**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA**

**No. SC 94,738**

**BRIAN NEIMAN, individually, and  
BRIAN NEIMAN, INC., a Florida Corporation,**

**Appellants/Respondents,**

**vs.**

**THE FLORIDA BAR,**

**Appellee/Petitioner**

---

**Appeal of the Referee's Report**

---

**AMENDED  
INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS,  
BRIAN NEIMAN and BRIAN NEIMAN, INC.**

**HICKS, ANDERSON & KNEALE, P.A.  
799 Brickell Plaza, 9<sup>th</sup> floor  
Miami, Florida 33131  
(305) 374-8171; (305) 372-8038 (fax)**

**By: H. Dohn Williams Jr.**

##

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In January 1999, The Florida Bar (hereinafter referred to as “the Bar”) filed a multi-count Petition Against the Unlicensed Practice of Law (hereinafter referred to as “Petition”) against the Appellants/Respondents, Brian Neiman and Brian Neiman, Inc., a Florida Corporation (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Neiman”). The Petition sought to enjoin Neiman from the unlicensed and/or unauthorized practice of law (hereinafter referred to as “UPL”). (Report of the Referee, p. 3, hereinafter referred to as “Report, p. \_\_\_”). Contemporaneous with the filing of the Petition, the Bar referred the allegations in its Petition, relating to “participating in settlement negotiations,” to the Broward County State Attorney’s Office for criminal prosecution. The Bar moved to abate this case during the pendency of the criminal prosecution. Neiman wanted a referee appointed, so he could invoke and/or avail himself of the civil rules of discovery, and begin preparing his defense. The Bar’s motion to abate the proceeding was granted. The conduct alleged in Counts IV, V, VI, VII and XIII, relating to “participating in settlement negotiations” were charged as criminal offenses. On August 19, 1999, Neiman entered an Alford plea of nolo contendere to five misdemeanor counts of UPL, reserving his right to appeal his Motion to Dismiss. The Honorable Robert W. Lee placed Neiman on probation with special conditions relating to his employment as a paralegal. Judge Lee felt the issue of whether a paralegal may participate in settlement negotiations was one of great public importance, and certified it as such to the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

Contrary to the Report, Neiman and the State Attorney’s Office did not negotiate the conditions of probation relating to restrictions on his employment as a paralegal. Judge Lee asked both sides to submit proposals regarding restrictions on his employment as a paralegal. Judge Lee made the final decision and drafted the final order as follows:

You will not engage in future conduct which constitutes the unlicensed practice of law. **However, in particular you may participate in meetings, settlement negotiations, mediations, or telephone discussions as a paralegal so long as:** (A) your employing attorney, your employing attorney's associate, and/or employing attorney's co-counsel is present and supervising you; (B) your employing attorney affirmatively represents to his client, and to the opposing party that the employing attorney remains responsible for your conduct and (C) all parties present at any meeting or telephone conference are advised at the beginning of your involvement in the process of whatever situation or circumstance you are resolving that your participation is that of a paralegal. Additionally, when you deal with any parties, other than your own employing attorney, you may in participating in these discussions pass on offers or factual information if those offers and factual information have been approved in advance by your employing attorney. (emphasis added)

In the criminal proceeding, engaging in settlement negotiations was not declared *per se* the unlicensed practice of law. Neiman was allowed to continue participating in settlement negotiations, so long as everyone involved knew he was a paralegal, and so long as he is doing it under an attorney's supervision. Later, when Judge Lee "switched hats" to the Referee in this case, he reversed himself.

After the criminal case concluded at the trial level, on January 3, 2000, this Court and Neiman were notified that Judge Lee would now preside over the Bar's case against Neiman. On February 3, 2000, the Referee held a status conference. (Report p. 3). The rush to judgment was on. Even though the Bar had years to prepare its case by subpoenaing witnesses for ex parte depositions, Neiman's trial, over his objection, began eighty-two days after the first status conference, and after Neiman's affirmative defenses and witness lists were struck. (Report p. 3).



The Referee struck Counts VIIA, X, XI, XIV, XIX and XX. (Report, p. 21, 27,30, 39). The Referee found no violation as to Count XVI. (Report, p. 34). Therefore, these counts are not discussed herein.

The Petition alleged a “laundry list” of violations, and it asked for some sanctions that did not apply. The Bar’s shotgun approach included conduct that the Bar did not allege Neiman had committed. For example, the Bar did not want him receiving legal fees from clients or other persons. In the cases set forth in the Petition, the clients were represented on a contingent fee basis, and any recoveries were paid by a check issued in the attorney’s name and/or the client’s name and deposited in the trust account of the attorney that employed him. Neiman could not sign checks drawn on the attorney’s trust account.

The Petition sought a permanent injunction that prevented Neiman from: (1) engaging in UPL until such time as he was duly licensed as an attorney, (2) advertising to the public that he performs public legal services, legal advice or personal legal assistance, (3) advising persons of their rights, duties and responsibilities under the law, (4) advising persons of legal remedies that might be available to them, (5) representing to the public that he is capable of advising and handling matters requiring legal skill, (6) allowing the public to rely on his skills to properly prepare legal documents or legal forms, (7) holding himself out to be an attorney, (8) receiving directly or indirectly funds of any clients or persons regarding legal matters, (9) disbursing directly or indirectly funds of any clients or persons regarding legal matters, (10) receiving fees for legal matters, (11) handling in any manner funds of a client in a legal matter, (12) being a signatory on any bank account that receives or disburses funds concerning legal matters, and (13) engaging in any manner in UPL. (Petition). Before trial at a status conference, Neiman informed the Bar and the Referee that he had no objection to being enjoined from the above enumerated activities. While Neiman denied doing these acts, he acknowledges that these acts are prohibited

conduct by a paralegal, and he agrees not to engage in these acts. Therefore, these acts are not discussed herein.

The Petition also sought a permanent injunction that prevented Neiman from performing tasks that clearly a paralegal may perform under the guidance and supervision of an attorney.<sup>1</sup> Plus, the Petition sought a permanent injunction that prevented Neiman from performing tasks that do not constitute UPL, if performed under the guidance and supervision of an attorney.<sup>2</sup> Neiman would not agree to be enjoined from these activities, hence the case went to trial.

If the Report is affirmed, its practical effect is that Neiman is forever barred from working as a paralegal even under the guidance and supervision of an attorney. The recommended prohibitions that are the subject of this appeal are:

**(1) having direct contact with any client of his supervising/employing attorney, or opposing counsel, or any third party involved in his employing attorney's client's legal matter,**

**(2) speaking at settlement conferences, meetings, negotiations, or mediating regarding his employing attorney's clients' claims, even with his employing/supervising attorney present,**

**(3) preparing pleadings, motions, or any other legal document for "others," which would include the attorney that employs him, and**

---

<sup>1</sup> The prohibited tasks included: (1) having any discussion whatsoever with any clients of his employing attorney about their legal matter, (2) having any discussion whatsoever with witnesses, opposing counsel, the opposing party or insurance companies about any legal matter of his employing attorney's clients, (3) participating in settlement conferences or mediation hearings pertaining to his employing attorney's clients, or (4) working as a law office manager for any attorney.

<sup>2</sup> The prohibited tasks included: (1) participating in negotiating the settlement of legal disputes, legal matters or lawsuits of his employing attorney's clients, or (2) participating in settlement conferences or mediation hearings pertaining to his employing attorney's clients.

**(4) suggesting or participating in the accumulation of evidence in support of any legal claim, which would include action taken under the guidance and supervision of his supervising attorney.** (Report, p. 54-55) (emphasis added)

The counts that dealt with the contested recommendations are:

Count I charged that when Neiman worked for attorney Norman Ganz that Neiman advised opposing counsel that Mr. Ganz was not available, and thereafter discussed settlement and other issues with them. No specific client's case or incident was alleged. Count I also dealt with Neiman's income; there was no proof, or opinion rendered by the Bar's auditor that Neiman engaged in impermissible fee splitting.<sup>3</sup> (Report p. 5-7).

Count II concerned a personal injury case wherein the claimant retained other counsel to complete the case; however, while Mr. Ganz was the claimant's attorney, Neiman had settlement discussions with the tortfeasor's representatives (i.e., an insurance adjuster) (i.e., in other words, Neiman, a non-lawyer, had settlement discussions with an insurance adjuster). (Report p. 7-8).

Count III charged that in a wrongful birth case that Neiman attended a mediation with his supervising attorney. The supervising attorney allowed Neiman, who was more familiar with the facts of the case, to present the facts, and thereafter actively participate in the negotiation process. (Report p. 8-9).

Counts IV, V and VI charged that Neiman engaged in settlement negotiations with opposing counsel. Neiman's employing attorney represented employees with discrimination claims against their employer, the Clerk of the Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit. Neiman appeared at a settlement conference with the claimants'

---

<sup>3</sup> The Bar could not dispute Neiman's testimony that his income was derived from two sources. First, he was paid \$100 per hour for his paralegal work. Second, he provided luxury office space, office equipment, telephone, clerical help, etc for his employing attorney. He derived a profit from doing so.

attorney, and he participated in the settlement negotiations. Later, the claimants' attorney(s), not Neiman, settled the plaintiffs' claims. (Report p. 9-21).

Counts VIIB and VIII charged that in two discrimination cases that Neiman engaged in settlement negotiations on behalf of the claimants with opposing counsel. Neiman acknowledged that he relayed a series of offers and counteroffers. Accompanied by an associate attorney, Neiman attended a settlement meeting, and he participated in the settlement negotiations. However, the claims were not settled at that meeting. Later the claims were settled. (Report p. 21-24).

Count IX charged that in an employment discrimination case that Neiman engaged in settlement negotiations on behalf of the claimants. Neiman and three attorneys on behalf of the claimants attended a pre-suit settlement conference. Neiman participated in the settlement discussions, but the claims were not settled at that time. Later, an attorney employed by a separate and distinct law firm negotiated a settlement, and Neiman did not participate in those negotiations with opposing counsel. (Report p. 24-27).

Count XIII charged that in an employment discrimination case that Neiman engaged in settlement negotiations on behalf of the claimant. Neiman attended a mediation with the claimant's attorney, and he was allowed to participate in the settlement negotiations at the mediation; the claims were not settled. (Report p. 29-30)

Count XVII charged that in a defective automobile case, akin to a lemon law case, that Neiman participated in settlement negotiations. Neiman bought his significant other a car, and titled it in his significant other's name. During the case, the trial court determined that Neiman was the real party in interest. Thus, accepting the trial court's characterization of Neiman's position, the Bar charged Neiman with engaging in settlement negotiations pertaining to "his" own car. (Report p. 34-36)

Count XVIII charged that in an employment discrimination case that Neiman engaged in settlement negotiations on behalf of the claimant. Neiman attended a

settlement conference with his employing, who attorney deferred to him because Neiman was more familiar with the facts. He participated in the settlement conference, but the claim was not settled at that time. Later the case was resolved without Neiman's involvement. (Report p. 37-39).

Count XI charged that in a sexual harassment case that Neiman engaged in settlement negotiations on behalf of the claimant. The defrocked television news reporter charged with participating in rigging the gas tanks to explode on Ford pickup trucks for an investigative report, was charged with sexual harassment. Neiman attended a pre-suit settlement discussion with the claimant's attorney, and participated in the settlement discussions, but the claim was not settled. Later, the lawsuit was filed. It was settled by the claimant's attorney. (Report p. 39-42).

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Neiman was charged with the unlicensed practice of law for "participating in settlement negotiations." Neiman participated in settlement discussions during in-person meetings between his employing attorney and opposing counsel, while attending mediations with his employing attorney, and during telephone conversations with insurance adjusters or opposing counsel. In all instances, Neiman did so at the direction of his employing attorney, and under the guidance and supervision of his employing attorney. Based on a 1991 article published by the Bar, Neiman believed that it was permissible for him to do so. The gist of the article was that a paralegal may relay offers and counteroffers to opposing counsel and insurance adjusters, and may also relay factual information to those same parties. Neiman operated under this credo until the Bar filed its Petition and got him charged with a crime.

By custom and practice, the rules of court, and the case law, "participating in settlement negotiations" is not the unlicensed practice of law, as evidenced by the fact that insurance adjusters routinely participate in settlement negotiations on behalf of

torfeasors. Besides this Court has approved lay persons, not supervised by an attorney, to participate in and even settle matters in small claims court.

Accordingly, the recommendation prohibiting a paralegal from “participating in settlement negotiations” should be modified. This Court should find that a paralegal may participate in meetings, settlement negotiations, mediations, or telephone discussions as a paralegal so long as: (1) his employing attorney, his employing attorney’s associate, and/or the employing attorney’s co-counsel is supervising him; (2) his employing attorney affirmatively represents to his client, and to the opposing party that the employing attorney remains responsible for the paralegal’s conduct and (3) at the beginning of any meeting or telephone conference that all parties are advised of the paralegal’s status. Additionally, when a paralegal has dealings with any parties, other than his own employing attorney, he may in participating in these discussions pass on offers or factual information, if those offers and factual information have been approved in advance by his employing attorney.

In its zeal to prosecute Neiman, the Bar has ignored the fact that non-lawyers representing tortfeasors routinely participate in settlement negotiations. Insurance companies and governmental agencies on behalf of their respective “clients” routinely use non-lawyers to negotiate with claimant’s lawyers to settle legal disputes. The Bar has no intention of enjoining these activities, thereby creating an Equal Protection problem.

Lastly, the Bar convinced the Referee to issue an overbroad order that enjoins lawful activity. Where illegal conduct is separable from legal conduct within a legal business enterprise, the general rule is that only the illegal conduct may be enjoined. Therefore, Neiman should not be enjoined from performing legitimate tasks.

### **Point 1**

**“PARTICIPATING IN SETTLEMENT  
NEGOTIATIONS” IS NOT THE UNLICENSED  
PRACTICE OF LAW.**

The Referee’s Report recommends that Neiman be enjoined from prohibited conduct as well as lawful conduct. While this Court is obligated to enjoin Neiman from engaging in prohibited conduct, it is also obligated to see that the injunction is not overbroad. As a general rule, where illegal conduct is separable from legal conduct within a business enterprise, only the illegal conduct may be enjoined. *Health Clubs Inc. v. Cataldo*, 377 So.2d 28, 29 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 1979). In *The 4245 Corporation v. The City of Oakland Park*, 473 So.2d 12 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 1985), a business was totally enjoined from operating. Judge Anstead, in reversing the injunction, wrote:

Clearly, there were some indecent acts constituting lewdness which justified an injunction. However, based on the record, the limited number of occurrences, and **the fact that no prior injunction had issued**, we are of the opinion that the finding "that said corporation could not be operated as a legitimate business without permitting said acts of lewdness" is erroneous and unsupported. The injunction totally putting the corporation out of business was too drastic and its terms were overbroad. The trial court should have limited the injunction to the illegal acts of lewdness and given the corporation an opportunity to function as a legitimate enterprise. (emphasis added)

The situation here is analogous. Neiman was working in a legitimate business -- as a paralegal for an attorney. The Bar claimed that while working as a paralegal that some of his conduct constituted UPL. Neiman has never before been enjoined for engaging in

UPL.<sup>4</sup> So, this Court is obligated to limit the injunction to acts that constitute UPL; otherwise, the injunction is overbroad.

In deciding whether Neiman, a paralegal, engaged in the unlicensed practice of law, the context in which the conduct occurred must be stressed. At all times pertinent thereto, Neiman was employed as a paralegal by a member of the Florida Bar. Within this employment context, Neiman was charged with “participating in settlement negotiations with a tortfeasor’s attorney or a tortfeasors’ non-lawyer representative.” The acts alleged were done at the instruction of, direction of, under the guidance of, and with his employing attorney’s knowledge and consent.

Neiman’s “participation in settlement negotiations” must also be viewed within the context of an article published in 1991 by Assistant Director of the Unlicensed Practice of Law Department of The Florida Bar, Lori S. Holcomb. The gist of the article was that a paralegal may relay offers and counteroffers to opposing counsel and insurance adjusters, and may also relay factual information to those same parties. Neiman relied on this article.<sup>5</sup> Years after the article was published, a complaint was filed with the Bar critical of Neiman being involved in the negotiation process. The Bar did not seek to sanction Neiman. This re-affirmed his belief that he could “participate in settlement negotiations.

Applicants for admission to the Bar take bar review courses dealing with specifically enumerated “law subjects,” but the subjects did not include “negotiations”

---

<sup>4</sup> Before 1991, Neiman was charged with UPL for conduct that occurred before he began working for, and under the supervision of an attorney. Neiman thought that a public adjuster’s license authorized him to represent a person with an insurance claim. In the mid-1990’s, while working for, and under the supervision of an attorney, a UPL complaint was filed against him by an opposing counsel. The Bar dismissed the complaint and Neiman was not sanctioned.

<sup>5</sup> Neiman’s testimony August 2, 2000, morning session, p. 13-14.



or “settlement negotiations.” “Negotiation” or “settlement negotiation” has never been a required course in law school. “Negotiation” or “settlement negotiation” has never been a subject, or area tested on the Florida Bar Exam.<sup>6</sup>

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