IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. SC94738

PETITIONER,

VS.

BRIAN NEIMAN, individually, and BRIAN NEIMAN, INC., A Florida Corporation,

RESP	OND	ENT	S.	

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

JACQUELYN PLASNER NEEDELMAN Branch UPL Counsel Attorney No. 262846 The Florida Bar, Suite M-100 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445, ext. 218

ALLAN JAMES SULLIVAN Co-Bar Counsel, Attorney No. 132810 Sullivan & Rivero, P.A. 201 Biscayne Boulevard, Ste. 1450 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 371-7781

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director Attorney No. 123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-230 (850) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Referee's findings and recommendations must be upheld as they are supported by the record. Respondents bear the burden to show that the Referee's findings are clearly erroneous and unsupported by the record. Respondents have not objected to the Referee's findings, and have not met this burden. Further, there is abundant evidence in the record to support the Referee's findings. The evidence shows and the Referee found that Respondent Neiman was a business man engaging in the unlicensed practice law as a lucrative business with a direct financial interest in the settlement of cases. Respondent Neiman held himself out to be an attorney, gave legal advice to clients, signed up clients, coerced clients to settle their cases, negotiated settlements of legal matters with opposing counsel/parties, was in charge of legal cases, and signed an attorney's name to pleadings and correspondence. These undisputed findings must be upheld.

Among the findings which must be upheld is a finding that Respondent Neiman negotiated settlements and that the negotiation of settlements by a nonlawyer constitutes the unlicensed practice of law. Case law supports this finding. When determining whether an activity constitutes the unlicensed practice of law, two questions must be addressed. First, whether the activity is the practice of law. Second, if the activity is the practice of law, whether it is authorized. If an

activity is the practice of law and is authorized, the activity will not be considered improper. Negotiating a settlement in a legal matter requires a knowledge of the law greater than that possessed by the average citizen, and therefore, constitutes the practice of law. There is no rule or law that authorized Respondent Neiman's acts. Therefore, as found by the Referee, Respondent Neiman engaged in the unlicensed practice of law when he negotiated the settlement of complex legal matters.

There is no merit to Respondents' argument that other nonlawyers perform the same type of activity engaged in by Respondent Neiman thereby authorizing the activity or deeming that it not constitute the practice of law. None of Respondents' examples were similar to the instant facts, wherein clients retain a law office to represent their interests. When a client retains a law firm, certain expectations come into play, including the expectation that a member of The Florida Bar will be handling or in charge of all aspects of the case. This expectation was not met in this matter and harm resulted.

Similarly, there is no merit to Respondents' claim that there is a violation of constitutional rights, particularly equal protection, in the regulation of the unlicensed practice of law or in the findings and recommendations in the instant matter. Once again, the examples cited by Respondents are distinct from the facts of this case. Moreover, case law has held that enforcing the prohibition against a

nonlawyer engaging in the practice of law does not violate the nonlawyer's constitutional rights.

Lastly, Respondents argue that the Referee's recommendations are overbroad. The relief recommended by the Referee is well supported by case law and the evidence in the record. Rule 10-7.1 (e)(2) of The Rules Governing The Investigation and Prosecution of The Unlicensed Practice of Law envisions the Court's entry of an order "appropriate" to the facts of the case. The Referee's recommendations are necessary for the protection of the public to prevent the Respondents from engaging in the egregious acts committed in this case.

Accordingly, all of the Referee's findings and recommendations should be adopted and upheld by this Court.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS AND</u> RECOMMENDATIONS MUST BE UPHELD

A referee's findings of fact are presumed correct and will be upheld unless clearly erroneous and lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Catarcio, 709 So. 2d 96, 99 (Fla. 1998); The Florida Bar v. Hughes, 697 So. 2d 501, 503 (Fla. 1997). The party seeking review in a proceeding concerning the unlicensed practice of law bears the burden of showing that the referee's findings are clearly erroneous and unsupported by the record. The Florida Bar v. Catarcio, supra. Unless, that burden is met, the referee's findings and recommendations must be upheld on review. The Florida Bar v. Hughes, supra. In this matter, Respondents' have not objected to the Referee's findings and, therefore, have not met this burden. (For the convenience of this Court, a copy of the Report of the Referee is included in Appendix V.).

Nonetheless, in an attempt to undermine the Referee's findings,
Respondents, in their Statement of the Case and Facts, mischaracterize both the
record below and the substance of the findings made by the Referee. Thus,
Respondents disingenuously state, that, in Count I of the Petition, Respondent
Neiman was merely charged with working for attorneys by discussing settlements
with opposing counsel when the employing attorney was not available. (RIB 5).

They complain that no specific case is mentioned in Count I and that, although Respondent Neiman's income is discussed in the Count, fee splitting was not proved at trial. (RIB 5).

Count I contains general allegations regarding how Respondents operated their business. As to Count I, the Referee found that Respondent Neiman, a convicted felon (TFB Exs.18-22), had been working in the legal field for almost a decade and received hundreds of thousands of dollars for providing services in legal matters. (RR. 5). The facts of this matter show that at all times material herein, Respondent Neiman purportedly worked for the law office of Norman Ganz or Saul Smolar, members of The Florida Bar. (IR. 60, RR. 7-42, 51). While fee splitting was not charged and does not have to be proved to support a finding that Respondents engaged in the unlicensed practice of law, Respondent Neiman personally grossed over \$1.4 million in salary in 1995 from the legal field and had a verbal agreement with attorney Norman Ganz to be paid six million dollars over a six year period. (RR 6-7, TFB Ex. 106, 107). The evidence showed, and the Referee found, that Respondent Neiman was a businessman trying to practice law as a lucrative business and had a direct personal financial interest in the settlement of the cases. (RR.6-7).

The Referee did not accept Respondent Neiman's attempt to excuse his

conduct as being merely the docile, passive relayor of information for an attorney and found that Respondent Neiman's explanations were not credible. (RR. 5-6, 27). The Referee found that Respondent Neiman went well beyond performing merely "mechanical, clerical or administrative duties, and merely transmitting [information] from and to the attorney." (RR.6). The Referee found that Respondent Neiman "called the shots", and that the attorneys associated with him did not remain "professionally responsible" for his work product. (RR. 49, 51, 52). Another finding of the Referee was that Respondent Neiman was not supervised by attorneys but that Neiman was the one exercising the "charge", direction and oversight of the matters which he worked on, that he was not generally receiving "careful" direction from anyone and that any attempts at supervision were grossly inadequate. (RR. 51). Also, the Referee found that Respondent Neiman frequently led people to believe that he was an attorney by his actions and by his failure to disclose his paralegal status. (RR. 50-51). The Referee found that Respondent Neiman's motivation throughout the cases was nothing more than his own monetary gain. (RR. 53-54). Further, the Referee found Neiman's conduct was quite harmful to some clients. (RR. 53). Nowhere do Respondents dispute these findings.

Respondents state that Count II concerned a personal injury action during

which Respondent Neiman engaged in settlement negotiations. (RIB 5). Again, Respondents "state" what the allegations of the count were but do not discuss or dispute the findings of the Referee. As to Count II, the Referee found that Respondent Neiman was the primary contact for Ms. Gould, the client in the personal injury action, in 1995 and 1996. Based on the evidence, the Referee found that Respondent Neiman advised Ms. Gould that she had a good case and engaged in settlement discussions with representatives of the defendant. (RR.7-8). The Referee also found that Donna Tingling, a paralegal formerly of the Ganz office, credibly testified that Respondent Neiman was "in charge of the office" at the time of this matter. (RR. 8).

Respondents appear to agree with the finding of unlicensed practice of law proven in Count III. Respondents state that Respondent Neiman attended a mediation with his employing attorney, presented the facts as he was more familiar with them and actively participated in the negotiation process. (RIB 5-6). The Referee found in Count III that Respondent Neiman in relation to this matter extensively argued issues of law with opposing counsel and handled a mediation for the client, arguing issues of liability, causation, and damages. (RR. 9). Respondents do not dispute these findings.

Counts IV, V, and VI concerned a lawsuit against the Broward County

Clerk's Office during the years 1995-1998. (RR. 9). The Referee found that clients were referred to Respondent Neiman by the NAACP. (RR. 9-11). The Referee further found that the clients believed Respondent Neiman was an attorney because he acted like one and was making decisions on the case. (RR. 9-11). Respondent Neiman was the main primary contact on the case because attorney Ganz was inaccessible. (RR. 12). The Referee further found that Respondent Neiman engaged in extensive settlement discussions and arguments with opposing counsel. (RR. 13-17). The case settled and the clients were not happy with their settlements. (RR. 19-20). In their brief, Respondents state that Respondent Neiman appeared at the settlement conference and participated in the settlement negotiations. (RIB 6). Once again, Respondents do not dispute the Referee's findings.

As to Counts VIIB and VIII, the Referee found that, in 1999, Respondent Neiman gave advice to clients involved in discrimination cases and pressured the clients to settle the cases and give a donation to the NAACP from their settlement proceeds. (RR. 21-24). The Referee also found that Respondent Neiman handled settlement discussions with opposing counsel. (RR. 21-24). In their Statement of the Case and Facts, Respondents do not dispute these findings but instead acknowledge that Respondent Neiman attended settlement meetings and participated in settlement negotiations. (RIB 6).

Count IX involved an employment discrimination case. As to this count, the Referee found that clients were referred to Respondent Neiman by the NAACP in 1996, that Respondent Neiman gave them advice, signed them up and presided over several meetings with them wherein strategies and settlements were discussed. (RR. 24-25). The Referee also found that Respondent Neiman allowed Janet Arvo, a client in this case, to introduce him to a third party as her attorney and he did not state that he was not an attorney. (RR. 25). Respondent Neiman discussed with clients their individual settlements and did not disclose the total amounts of the settlements. (RR. 25). The Referee found that Neiman had each claimant sign a receipt and after they had signed it. Neiman altered the document to make it look like a closing statement by adding waiver language and the amount of fees that each attorney received. (RR. 28-29, TFB Ex. 5). An engagement fee was demanded by Neiman from the claimants even though it had not been disclosed or agreed to. (RR. 27). As with the other counts of this matter, Respondents do not dispute the accuracy of these findings.

Respondents do not discuss Count XII in their brief. As to this count, the Referee found that during 1997 Respondent Neiman told Laura Starr, a paralegal for opposing counsel, that "I represent the Plaintiffs" and that he would negotiate for them. (RR. 28). Respondent Neiman admitted in his testimony that he told Ms.

Starr he had the authority to settle the case. (RR. 28).

Respondents do address Count XIII. In their brief, Respondents state that Respondent Neiman attended a mediation in the employment discrimination case and participated in settlement negotiations at the mediation. (RIB 6-7). The Referee found as to Count XIII that, in 1996, opposing counsel Haas Hatic attempted to contact Norman Ganz regarding the employment discrimination case and that Respondent Neiman responded, a familiar pattern from other counts. (RR. 29). In his report, the Referee states that Respondent Neiman attempted to argue issues of liability and told the opposing counsel that he was chief cook, bottle washer, and senior paralegal for the Ganz firm. (RR. 29, T. 1510). Respondent Neiman conducted the mediation for the plaintiff after Mr. Ganz introduced Respondent Neiman as the person most knowledgeable about the plaintiff's case. (RR. 29). When Mr. Hatic attempted to discuss settlement of the case with Saul Smolar, an attorney affiliated with the Ganz firm, Mr. Smolar told Mr. Hatic that settlement discussions would have to be handled by Respondent Neiman. (RR. 29). Norman Ganz, the alleged attorney on the case, also told Mr. Hatic that all settlement discussions had to occur with Respondent Neiman, and not him. (RR. 29). All of these findings were made by the Referee and have not been disputed by Respondents.

As to Count XV, the Referee found that, in 1991, Respondent Neiman gave advice to Stacy Koltun, a 19 year old who had been involved in an automobile accident. (RR. 30-34). Respondent Neiman further told Ms. Koltun and her father that he would negotiate a settlement for her. (RR. 31). Ms. Koltun believed Neiman was an attorney based on the way he held himself out, handled the meeting, accepted the case and hired associates. (RR. 31). The Referee's report also found that some employees with the insurance companies believed that Respondent Neiman was Ms. Koltun's attorney. (RR. 31, TFB Exs. 72, 89, Resp Exs. 81,82). Respondent Neiman negotiated the settlement with the insurance company with very specific and detailed arguments. (TFB Ex. 72). Respondent Neiman advised Ms. Koltun whether to accept or reject a settlement offer, and when the case settled several years later, he explained the closing statement to her. (RR. 33-34). Respondents do not discuss Count XV in their brief and the findings remain undisputed.

As to Count XVII, the Referee found that, in 1998, Respondent Neiman launched into a presentation of the case with opposing counsel and clearly advocated his client's position. (RR. 34-36). Respondent Neiman tries to explain away this count by stating he was appearing *pro se*. While it is true that a Federal District Court judge recently found that Respondent Neiman was in fact the owner

of the car in question, Respondent Neiman disputed that fact throughout the litigation and, at the time he was advocating the position on the case, he was doing so on another's behalf. (T. July 6, 35-44, 54).

As to Count XVIII, the Referee found that during 1998 Respondent Neiman spoke with opposing counsel in an employment discrimination case and did not disclose that he was not an attorney. William Davell, Esq., an attorney representing an opposing party, called the Smolar firm and asked to speak to the person responsible for the case. Respondent Neiman took the call and, speaking in the first person, said he was responsible for the case. (RR. 38). At a meeting in the case with opposing counsel, Respondent Neiman made a factual presentation of the case, argued the law and stated the firm would be bringing in a firm from Miami to try the case. (RR. 38). Respondents again appear to agree with this finding as they state that Respondent Neiman participated in the settlement conference as he was more familiar with the facts of the case than the attorney. (RIB 7).

As to Count XXI, the Referee found that in a sexual harassment claim in 1998, Respondent Neiman contacted Joan Young, an attorney for CBS, and argued the facts of the case. (RR. 39-40). Ms. Young believed Respondent Neiman to be an attorney. (RR. 40). A meeting was arranged at which Respondent Neiman advocated the client's position. (RR. 41). As with many of the other counts,

Respondents agree with this finding stating that Respondent Neiman participated in the settlement discussions. (RIB 7).

As to the case on the whole, the Referee found as follows:

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